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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

POM WONDERFUL LLC,  )
)

Plaintiff, )
)

v. ) No. 10-1539 (RWR)
)

FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION, )
)

Defendant. )

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF MOTION TO DISMISS 
BY THE FEDERAL TRADE COMMISSION 

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff POM Wonderful LLC (“POM”) argues that the Federal Trade Commission

(“FTC” or “the Commission”) has enacted a new rule pertaining to truthful advertising that

exceeds its statutory authority.  POM asserts that the FTC has adopted this “rule” through

language contained in two consent agreements between the FTC and two other parties.  POM’s

argument is that because those other two parties agreed not to make specified advertising claims

before obtaining approval of their products by the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”),

the FTC now requires advertisers to obtain FDA approval before making advertising claims, and

the FTC seeks to enforce this “rule” against POM.  

This assertion is baseless, and the Court has no jurisdiction for several reasons.  Because

the FTC might seek the remedy of FDA approval in a consent agreement or might propose such

a remedy in litigation does not mean that this is a new “rule” that the FTC can enforce.  In fact,

after POM filed the instant complaint, the FTC filed an administrative complaint against POM,

and that complaint does not allege that POM violated any “rule” or “standard” other than the

FTC Act.  Thus, POM’s allegation that the FTC will seek to enforce a new “rule” against it is

moot:  The FTC has filed a complaint against POM and has not done what POM seeks to

prevent.  POM’s complaint can be dismissed on this basis alone.  

POM’s complaint can also be dismissed because the FTC has caused no injury to POM. 

The FTC complaint identifies extravagant claims made by POM that its pomegranate products
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can prevent and treat serious disease and cancer, and alleges that these claims are false,

misleading, and unsubstantiated in violation of the FTC Act.  The FTC complaint includes a

proposed order that the FTC would like to have issued if the facts are found to be as alleged in

the complaint.  One of the terms of the proposed order would require FDA approval before

certain claims could be made.  POM will have a full opportunity to litigate whether it violated

the law and, if so, whether this proposed remedy is appropriate.  In fact, POM is raising the same

issues as defenses in the administrative case that it seeks to raise before this Court.  Because

POM is not bound by the proposed order and will have an opportunity to litigate about whether it

should be imposed, and because POM has not suffered injury from the language of consent

decrees involving other parties, it has no Article III injury.  Also, the relief POM seeks would

likely interfere with the enforcement action the FTC has brought against POM, and the

complaint can be dismissed on this alternative basis.    

 Further, POM’s complaint fails to state a claim on which relief can be granted.  The

language agreed upon by the FTC and other parties does not constitute final agency action under

the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”).  For any of these alternative reasons, the case can be

dismissed.   

BACKGROUND

I. THE FTC’S ENFORCEMENT PROGRAM

The FTC’s investigation of POM, and the administrative complaint that has been brought

against the company, primarily pertain to whether POM’s advertising regarding research that

supposedly supports the company’s claims of the health benefits of its pomegranate juice

products is deceptive in violation of the FTC Act.  One of the FTC’s core goals is to protect

consumers from misleading advertising.  At least since 1983, the agency has published policy

statements and enforcement guidelines making clear that advertisers may be subject to

enforcement action if they lack evidence that substantiates the truth of explicit or implied claims

2
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about advertised products.   The FTC’s concerns about misleading advertising are particularly1

acute in the context of deceptive claims about the health benefits of food products and dietary

supplements:  “Many consumers fall victim to deceptive health marketing because they are

desperate for help – whether to lose weight, prevent or treat colds, or cure very serious diseases,

such as cancer or diabetes.”   Accordingly, the agency has actively pursued enforcement actions2

against advertisers that lacked “rigorous substantiation . . . for claims relating to the health or

safety of a product, including health claims for food products.”   Moreover, as explained in3

greater detail below, it is not unusual for the FTC to seek remedial provisions more restrictive

than applicable to the industry as a whole for those who have been found to be in violation of the

FTC Act.  Such “fencing in” provisions are designed to prevent proven violators from engaging

in deceptive practices in the future, and have been upheld by courts.       

II. POM’S COMPLAINT

POM alleges that the FTC has “suddenly” changed direction “in the criteria it uses to

evaluate deceptive advertising” by adopting a “new standard.”  See Complaint (“Compl.”) ¶¶ 4,

5.  The allegedly “new standard” is that the FTC now requires that the FDA approve a product

before advertising claims can be made about the product.  Id. ¶ 6.  Thus, POM asserts that the

FTC has “encroached” upon the “jurisdiction reserved for the” FDA.  Id. ¶¶ 4, 8.  POM alleges

that the FTC has done this by “rule,” and should have used rulemaking procedures.  Id. ¶¶ 8, 30. 

POM asserts that the FTC adopted this new rule in consent agreements it entered with other

parties, Nestle and Iovate, and that the FTC seeks to enforce the terms of these consent orders

against plaintiff and others.  Id. ¶ 23-24.  Indeed, POM contends that the FTC is “universally

applying” this purported new requirement, id. ¶ 5, “with legal force and effect,” id. ¶ 23, not only

 See, e.g., FTC Policy Statement Regarding Advertising Substantiation, appended to1

Thompson Med. Co., 104 F.T.C. 648, 839 (1984), aff’d, 791 F.2d 189 (D.C. Cir. 1986).  

 See The FTC in 2009: Federal Trade Commission Annual Report (March 2010)2

(available at http://www.ftc.gov/os/2009/03/2009ftcrptpv.pdf) at 49.

 See FTC Enforcement Policy Statement on Food Advertising (May 1994) (available at3

http://www.ftc.gov/bcp/policystmt/ad-food.htm#Health) at 73.

3
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to POM but to “compel the entire food and dietary supplement industries to follow these

policies.”  Id. ¶ 24.  POM asserts that the “FTC specifically advised POM” to this effect, id. ¶ 23,

but cites no specific written or oral communication to substantiate this allegation.

POM argues that this putative requirement of FDA approval is a “prior restraint,” and

that the FTC seeks to impose this standard even for advertising claims that are not deceptive

under the FTC Act.  Id. ¶¶ 25-27, 29.  POM also argues that the FTC now prohibits health claims

unless the advertiser has two “well-controlled” clinical studies and that this “is a significant

departure from the FTC’s prior rules,” and goes beyond “traditional substantiation standards.” 

Id. ¶ 28.  POM specifically alleges violations of the Administrative Procedure Act (“APA”):  (1)

the FTC has exceeded its authority by requiring prior FDA approval of advertising claims, and

by imposing a new rule without using rulemaking procedures, id. ¶ 34; (2) the FTC has violated

the First and Fifth Amendments by requiring “prior FDA approval” of certain claims without

using rulemaking procedures, id. ¶¶ 40-41; (3) the FTC has violated the rulemaking procedures

of the APA and the FTC Act, id. ¶¶45-47; and (4) the adoption of the “new standard” is arbitrary

and capricious, id. ¶¶ 51-53.     

The consent agreements that allegedly resulted in the “new standard” involved Iovate

Health Sciences USA, Inc., and Nestle Healthcare Nutrition, Inc.  The Iovate agreement resolved

district court litigation, FTC v. Iovate Health Sciences USA, Inc., No. 10-CV-587 (W.D.N.Y., 

July 29, 2010), and is available at http://www.ftc.gov/os/caselist/0723187/index.shtm.  The

Nestle agreement resolved an FTC administrative complaint, In the Matter of Nestle HealthCare

Nutrition,Inc., File No. 092 3087, and is available at

http://www.ftc.gov/os/caselist/0923087/index.shtm.  POM was not a party to either of these

cases, and neither of these consent decrees binds POM nor addresses POM’s acts or practices.

4
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III. THE ADMINISTRATIVE COMPLAINT

When POM filed the instant case on September 13, 2010, it was aware that the FTC was

about to issue a complaint against it,  and on September 27, 2010, the FTC did so.  The4

administrative complaint filed against POM (and its owners, managers, and advertising affiliate)

is attachment A to this memorandum, and it can be viewed at

http://www.ftc.gov/opa/2010/09/pom.shtm.  The complaint alleges that POM’s practices in

promoting pomegranate juice and pills constitute unfair or deceptive acts or practices and false

advertising in violation of sections 5(a) and 12 of the FTC Act, 15 U.S.C. §§ 45(a), 52.   See5

FTC Compl. ¶ 22.  The complaint alleges, among other things, that POM has falsely represented

that its pomegranate products prevent or reduce the risk of heart disease and treat heart disease,

prevent or reduce the risk of prostate cancer and treat prostate cancer, and prevent or reduce the

risk of erectile dysfunction and treat erectile dysfunction.  Id. ¶¶ 12-21.  The FTC complaint

alleges that POM misrepresented the results of some purported clinical studies, ¶ 13; that POM

misleadingly exaggerated the quality of these studies, when in fact they failed to satisfy the

standard of rigor that generally would be deemed reliable in the scientific community, ¶ 15; and

that POM did not have a reasonable basis to substantiate its representations regarding the

products’ health benefits.  ¶ 21.  The FTC complaint does not allege a violation of the Food,

Drug, and Cosmetic Act or any “rule” or “standard” other than the FTC Act.  

In the “Notice” section of the complaint, the FTC provides notice that a hearing will be

held before an Administrative Law Judge on May 24, 2011.  Id. at 20.  The complaint includes a

 See Mike Scarcella, “Juicemaker investigated by the FTC; POM Wonderful retreats4

from effort to keep probe secret,” National Law Journal (Aug. 2, 2010) (“Juice maker POM
Wonderful has been under investigation by the Federal Trade Commission, a fact that is
contained in publicly available court records that until late Friday The National Law Journal was
barred by a judge from publishing.”)
(http://www.law.com/jsp/nlj/legaltimes/PubArticleLT.jsp?id=1202464109879&Juicemaker_inve
stigated_by_the_FTC&slreturn=1&hbxlogin=1). 

 Section 5(a) of the FTC Act prohibits, inter alia, “unfair or deceptive acts or practices5

in or affecting commerce.”  Section 12 makes it unlawful to disseminate any false advertisement
that is likely to induce the purchase of “food, drugs, devices, services, or cosmetics.” 

5
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“form of order” which the Commission “has reason to believe should issue if the facts are found

to be as alleged in the complaint.”  Id.  The proposed order would preclude defendants from

making any representation that the products at issue are “effective in the diagnosis, cure,

mitigation, treatment, or prevention of any disease,” including heart disease, prostate cancer, or

erectile dysfunction, and from making other representations unless those representations are non-

misleading and substantiated by competent and reliable scientific evidence.  Id. at 22.  The

proposed order also would preclude POM from misrepresenting the “existence, contents,

validity, results, conclusions, or interpretations of any test, study, or research.”  Id.

POM filed its Answer and Defenses to this complaint on October 18, 2010 (this

document is attachment B hereto, and can be viewed at

http://www.ftc.gov/os/adjpro/d9344/101018resoanswersanddefenses.pdf).  In the Answer and

Defenses, POM denies that it has violated the FTC Act; states that the relief proposed “infringes

the exclusive jurisdiction of the United States Food and Drug Administration, [and] would

violate Respondents’ rights under the First and Fifth Amendments of the U.S. Constitution;” and

contends that the “FTC lacks authority to impose all or part of the relief sought under the FTC

Act [and] the Administrative Procedure Act.”  Answer and Defenses at 6-7.  The defenses POM

is raising in the administrative case are identical to the allegations it asserts in this lawsuit. 

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Plaintiff bears the burden of establishing that the Court has jurisdiction.  See Lujan v.

Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 561 (1992); McNutt v. Gen. Motors Acceptance Corp. of

Indiana, 298 U.S. 178, 182 (1936); Int’l Bhd. of Teamsters v. Transp. Sec. Admin., 429 F.3d

1130, 1134 (D.C. Cir. 2005); Sierra Club v. EPA, 292 F.3d 895, 899-900 (D.C. Cir. 2002); U.S.

Ecology, Inc. v. U.S. Dep’t of Interior, 231 F.3d 20, 24 (D.C. Cir. 2000); Hilska v. Jones, 297 F.

Supp. 2d 82, 86 (D.D.C. 2003). 

Although POM seeks declaratory relief, such relief is only permitted if jurisdiction

otherwise exists.  28 U.S.C. § 2201 (“In a case of actual controversy within its jurisdiction . . 

6
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any court . . . may declare the rights. . . .”); Public Service Comm’n of Utah v. Wycoff Co.,

344 U.S. 237, 242 (1952) (Declaratory Judgment Act “applies . . . only to ‘cases and

controversies in the constitutional sense.’”) (quoting Aetna Life Ins. Co. v. Haworth, 300 U.S.

227, 240 (1937)); Skelly Oil Co. v. Phillips Petroleum Co., 339 U.S. 667, 671-72 (1950) (in the

Declaratory Judgment Act, “Congress enlarged the range of remedies available in the federal

courts but did not extend their jurisdiction. . . .  [T]he requirements of jurisdiction – the limited

subject matters which alone Congress had authorized the District Courts to adjudicate – were not

impliedly repealed or modified.”).  Even if a case or controversy exists, it is within the Court’s

discretion to decline to exercise jurisdiction if declaratory relief is inappropriate.  Swish

Marketing, Inc. v. FTC, 669 F. Supp.2d 72, 76 (D.D.C. 2009).   Declaratory relief may not be

appropriate, for example, when such relief would not resolve the controversy between the

parties, when a party is seeking declaratory relief to adjudicate anticipatory defenses, or when

there is another proceeding pending that encompasses the issues in the declaratory action.  Id. at

77-80. 

In addressing a motion to dismiss brought pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), the Court generally

must accept as true all factual allegations in the complaint.  Courts, however, “accept neither

‘inferences drawn by plaintiffs if such inferences are unsupported by the facts set out in the

complaint,’ nor ‘legal conclusions cast in the form of factual allegations.’”  Browning v. Clinton,

292 F.3d 235, 242 (D.C. Cir. 2002) (quoting in part Kowal v. MCI Communications Corp., 16

F.3d 1271, 1275 (D.C. Cir. 1994)); see also Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 1949-50 (2009);

Papasan v. Allain, 478 U.S. 265, 286 (1986); Trudeau v. FTC, 456 F.3d 178, 193 (D.C. Cir.

2006); Luck’s Music Library, Inc. v. Ashcroft, 321 F. Supp.2d 107, 112 (D.D.C. 2004).     

“To survive a motion to dismiss, a complaint must contain sufficient factual matter,

accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.’”  Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 129

S.Ct. at 1949 (quoting in part Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)).  “The

plausibility standard is not akin to a ‘probability requirement,’ but it asks for more than a sheer

possibility that a defendant has acted unlawfully.”  Id.  “Threadbare recitals of the elements of a

7
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cause of action, supported by mere conclusory statements, do not suffice.”  Id.  “Determining

whether a complaint states a plausible claim for relief will . . . be a context-specific task that

requires the reviewing court to draw on its judicial experience and common sense.”  Id. at 1950.

II. THERE IS NO JURISDICTION OVER POM’S COMPLAINT 

A. POM’S COMPLAINT IS MOOT

“An ‘actual controversy must be extant at all stages of review, not merely at the time the

complaint is filed.’”  Alvarez v. Smith, 130 S.Ct. 576, 580 (2009) (quoting Preiser v. Newkirk,

422 U.S. 395, 401 (1975)).  See also Burke v. Barnes, 479 U.S. 361, 363 (1987); Allen v. Wright,

468 U.S. 737, 750 (1984).  The mootness doctrine “forbids federal courts from rendering

advisory opinions or ‘decid[ing] questions that cannot affect the rights of the litigants in the case

before them.’”  Hall v. CIA, 437 F.3d 94, 99 (D.C. Cir. 2006) (quoting in part Pharmachemie

B.V. v. Barr Labs., Inc., 276 F.3d 627 (D.C. Cir. 2002)). 

POM asserts that, through language in consent decrees involving other parties, the FTC

has promulgated a new “rule” that it seeks to enforce against plaintiff.  If this were ever a live

controversy, it is not one now, inasmuch as the FTC has issued an administrative complaint

against POM and has not alleged a violation of any “rule” or “standard” other than the FTC Act. 

Hence, POM is asking this Court to decide, in the abstract, whether language in consent decrees

involving other parties is a “rule” that could be enforced against POM when the FTC is not

seeking to do so.  This claim is moot and is an impermissible attempt to obtain an advisory

opinion from this Court.  Nat’l Park Hospitality Ass’n v. Dep’t of Interior, 538 U.S. 803, 811

(2003); Hall v. CIA, 437 F.3d at 99.     

B. POM DOES NOT HAVE STANDING

An alternative reason that POM’s complaint must be dismissed is that it presents no

current injury sufficient to invoke the Article III jurisdiction of this Court.  As summarized by

the Supreme Court:

Under Article III of the Constitution, federal courts may adjudicate only actual,
ongoing cases or controversies. . . .  To invoke the jurisdiction of a federal court,

8
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a litigant must have suffered, or be threatened with, an actual injury traceable to
the defendant and likely to be redressed by a favorable judicial decision.

Lewis v. Cont’l Bank Corp., 494 U.S. 472, 477 (1990) (citations omitted); see also Lujan, 504

U.S. at 560; Int’l Bhd. of Teamsters v. Transp. Sec. Admin., 429 F.3d at 1134; Sierra Club v.

EPA, 292 F.3d at 899.  Neither the language used by the FTC in consent decrees involving other

parties nor the remedy the FTC has proposed in its administrative complaint against POM has

caused POM an injury.  See Shipbuilders Council of America v. United States, 868 F.2d 452,

456-57 (D.C. Cir. 1989) (trade association did not have standing to bring complaint requesting

court to direct agency not to issue decisions similar to those issued in a prior adjudication

because there was no justiciable case and no direct injury).

“Recognition of standing in such circumstances would transform the federal courts into

‘no more than a vehicle for the vindication of the value interests of concerned bystanders.’

Constitutional limits on the role of the federal courts preclude such a transformation.”  Allen v.

Wright, 468 U.S. at 756 (quoting United States v. SCRAP, 412 U.S. 669, 687 (1973)).  A

“dispute solely about the meaning of a law, abstracted from any concrete actual or threatened

harm, falls outside the scope of the constitutional words ‘cases’ and ‘controversies.’”  Alvarez v.

Smith, 130 S.Ct. at 580-81.    

 C. PLAINTIFF’S COMPLAINT SHOULD BE DISMISSED BECAUSE 
IT IS AN ATTEMPT TO PRECLUDE AN ENFORCEMENT ACTION

Another reason the complaint can be dismissed is that POM seeks to interfere with the

FTC’s enforcement action.  Although POM does not directly seek to enjoin the FTC’s

administrative enforcement action, the relief it seeks could have that effect.  Whether an

enforcement action is simply contemplated or has already been filed, it is well-established that

those subject to enforcement action may not file a separate challenge, but must raise any

defenses they have in the enforcement case itself, and that district courts do not have jurisdiction

to entertain such challenges.  See Ewing v. Mytinger & Casselberry, Inc., 339 U.S. 594, 598

(1950) (opportunity for court hearing in enforcement action “satisfies the requirements of due

process.”); Myers v. Bethlehem Shipbuilding Corp. 303 U.S. 41, 48 (1938) (“ The District Court

9
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is without jurisdiction to enjoin [NLRB] hearings,” in part because the Act provided for

appropriate procedure before the Board); Parke, Davis & Co. v. Califano, 564 F.2d 1200, 1206

(6th Cir. 1977) (“it was an abuse of discretion to enjoin the FDA in the circumstances of this

case where pending enforcement actions provided an opportunity for a full hearing before a

court.”). 

In another FTC case, the court rejected an attempt to obtain relief very similar to the

relief sought here.  In Direct Marketing Concepts, Inc. v. FTC, 581 F. Supp.2d 115 (D. Mass.

2008), the FTC had filed an enforcement action against Direct Marketing, but Direct Marketing

sued the FTC, alleging that the analysis the FTC uses to determine whether advertising violates

the statute runs afoul of the First Amendment.  Id. at 116-17.  The court held that the case should

be dismissed whether or not the enforcement action had already been filed:  “If this action is

related to the enforcement action, then it must be dismissed as an impermissible attempt to

enjoin an ongoing enforcement action.  If the two actions are not related, then this action must be

dismissed for failure to present a ripe claim for judicial adjudication.”  Id. at 117.  See also

General Finance Corp. v. FTC, 700 F.2d 366, 368 (7th Cir. 1983) (target of investigation cannot

sue the FTC to enjoin investigation, but must present claims in FTC’s affirmative case).  For

these reasons, there is no jurisdiction over POM’s complaint. 

In addition, as noted above, it is within the Court’s discretion to decline to exercise

jurisdiction to grant declaratory relief (1) when such relief would not fully resolve the issues

between the parties; (2) when the party seeking such relief is essentially asking the Court to

adjudicate anticipatory defenses; and (3) when the issues raised in the declaratory judgment

action can be raised in a pending action filed by a “natural plaintiff” (here, the FTC).  Swish

Marketing, 669 F. Supp.2d at 77-80.  In this case, (1) a ruling on POM’s complaint would not

resolve all of the issues between the parties; (2) it is clear that POM is seeking to have the Court

adjudicate anticipatory defenses (in fact, it is raising the same issues as defenses in FTC’s

enforcement action); and (3) the issues POM seeks to raise here are more appropriately raised in

the FTC’s enforcement action.  When another proceeding “involving the same parties and

10
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presenting opportunity for ventilation of the same law issues is pending” in another tribunal, “a

district court might be indulging in ‘[g]ratuitous interference’ if it permitted the federal

declaratory action to proceed.”  Wilton v. Seven Falls Co., 515 U.S. 277, 283 (1995) (quoting in

part Brillhart v. Excess Ins. Co. of Am., 316 U.S. 491, 495 (1942)).  Thus, it would be

inappropriate for the Court to order declaratory relief. 

III. POM’S COMPLAINT FAILS TO STATE A CLAIM BECAUSE 
POM DOES NOT CHALLENGE FINAL AGENCY ACTION

This Circuit has held that the lack of final agency action is not jurisdictional, but reflects

a failure to state a claim.  Trudeau v. FTC, 456 F.3d at 183-84.  The APA permits judicial review

of:  “Agency action made reviewable by statute and final agency action for which there is no

other adequate remedy in a court. . . .”  5 U.S.C. § 704.  POM does not claim it is seeking

judicial review of an action “made reviewable by statute.”  Thus, the issue is whether the

proposed remedy in the FTC administrative complaint or the consent agreements between the

FTC and Iovate and Nestle are “final agency action” that can be challenged by POM. 

The Supreme Court has held that the FTC’s issuance of an administrative complaint is

not final agency action subject to judicial review.  FTC v. Standard Oil Co., 449 U.S. 232

(1980).  The Court reached this result even though the complaint was “definitive” on the

question regarding whether the Commission had “reason to believe” that Standard Oil was

violating the Federal Trade Commission Act.  Id. at 241.  The complaint was only a

determination that adjudicatory proceedings would commence.  Although the Court recognized

that the burden of responding to this complaint would be “substantial,” it did not constitute

irreparable injury.  Id. at 244.  Permitting judicial review of the FTC’s complaint would lead to

“piecemeal review which at the least is inefficient and upon completion of the agency process

might prove to have been unnecessary. . . .  Finally, every respondent to a Commission

complaint could make the claim that [plaintiff] had made.”  Id. at 242-43 (citations omitted).  If

an administrative complaint is not final agency action, a remedy proposed in such a complaint is

not final agency action.   

11
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Nor do consent decrees the FTC has entered with other parties constitute final agency

action as to POM.  In order to constitute final agency action, the conduct at issue must “mark the

‘consummation’ of the agency’s decisionmaking process” and must also “be one by which

‘rights or obligations have been determined,’ or from which ‘legal consequences will flow.’” 

Nat’l Ass’n of Home Builders v. Norton, 415 F.3d 8, 13 (D.C. Cir. 2005) (quoting in part Bennett

v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 177-78 (1997)).  The voluntary agreements that the FTC enters with

other parties do not determine any of POM’s “rights or obligations,” nor do they have any “legal

consequences” for POM.  POM presents no plausible evidence that the provisions in those

consent decrees apply to anyone other than the parties to those decrees, let alone “universally.”  

Nor could they:  “[P]arties who choose to resolve litigation through settlement may not dispose

of the claims of a third party, and a fortiori may not impose duties or obligations on a third party,

without that party’s agreement. . . .  And, of course, a court may not enter a consent decree that

imposes obligations on a party that did not consent to the decree.” Local No. 93, Int’l Ass’n of

Firefighters, AFL-CIO v. City of Cleveland, 478 U.S. 501, 529 (1986).  

Moreover, it should come as no surprise if the Nestle and Iovate consent decrees – as

well as the proposed order issued in connection with the FTC’s complaint against POM – impose

duties and restrictions on those companies that may be more restrictive than those that apply

generically to the industry as a whole.  When a party has already committed serious violations of

the FTC Act, the FTC may rationally impose a remedial obligation that goes beyond the baseline

requirements that apply to non-violators.  Such a “‘fencing in’ provision prohibits [the party]

from engaging in deceptive practices in the future . . .  As the Supreme Court has noted, once the

Commission finds deceptive practices, “[i]t has wide latitude for judgment and the courts will

not interfere except where the remedy selected has no reasonable relation to the unlawful

practices found to exist.’”  Lee v. FTC, 679 F.2d 905, 906 (D.C. Cir. 1980) (quoting Jacob Siegel

Co. v. FTC, 327 U.S. 608, 613 (1946)). 

Indeed, the Commission’s Analysis to Aid Public Comment in the Nestle case makes this

clear.  The Analysis specifies that the FTC’s 1994 “Enforcement Policy Statement does not say
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that the only way a food advertiser can adequately substantiate a disease risk-reduction claim is

through FDA authorization . . . .”  Nestle HealthCare Nutrition, Inc.; Analysis of Proposed

Consent Order to Aid Public Comment, 75 Fed. Reg. 42752, 42753 (FTC, July 22, 2010).  In

other words, the FTC has never held (and in the Nestle Analysis explicitly declined to assert),

that advance FDA authorization is the only way any advertiser may substantiate this type of

health claim.  In Nestle, the Commission had reason to believe that Nestle had failed to comply

with the substantiation requirement under the reasonable basis standard, and had violated the

statutory prohibition of deceptive advertising, and “determined that requiring FDA pre-approval

before respondent makes a . . . risk-reduction claim for its covered products will facilitate

compliance with the order and is reasonably related to the enforcement of this order.”  Id.  The

FDA pre-approval requirement facilitates compliance because it makes it easier to determine

whether Nestle is engaging in violations in the future, and if so, makes it more straightforward

for the FTC to demonstrate contempt of the decree.

Another reason POM has failed to challenge final agency action is that the agency

conduct it is challenging is neither “agency action” nor a “rule” under the APA, much less final  

agency action.  5 U.S.C. § 704.  The APA defines agency action as “the whole or part of an

agency rule, order license, sanction, relief, or the equivalent or denial thereof.”  Id. § 551(13).  A

“rule” is an agency statement of “future effect.”  Id. § 551(4).  See also Am. Mining Cong. v.

Mine Safety & Health Admin., 995 F.2d 1106, 1112 (D.C. Cir. 1993).  Neither a remedy

proposed in an administrative proceeding nor the language of consent decrees involving other

parties comes close to meeting this definition.  See also Cement Kiln Recycling Coalition v.

EPA, 493 F.3d 207, 226-27 (D.C. Cir. 2007) (discussing the requirements of a substantive rule).

Accordingly, POM’s complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.
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CONCLUSION

For any of the foregoing reasons, the complaint should be dismissed.
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